

## CONTENTS

Article

## Page

1.General Purpose.	
2. Recognition	
3. Management Rights	5
4. Seniority	
5. Grievance Procedure.	
6. Wages	30
8. Premium Pay	32
9. Recognized Holidays	
10. Vacations	
11. Health Care	43
12. Jury Service	45
13. Death In The Immediate Family	
14. Safety	46
15 No Discrimination or Coercion	
16. No Strikes or Lockouts	
17. Bulletin Boards	
18. Union Security	48
19. Rules and Regulations	49
20. Government Security Regulations	50
2 1. Working Hours	50
22. Employees Work	52
23. Union and Company Representatives	52
24. Information To The Union	52
25 Group Life Insurance.	
26. Employee Pension Plan	
27. Employee Disability Benefit Plans	
29. Termination or Renewal	
30. Severance	
Schedule "A" Department Numbers	63

## 

THIS AGREEMENT made the 12th day of May 2000.

#### BETWEEN:

SCI BROCKVILLE CORP. PLANT 34 of Brockville, Ontario, Canada. hereinafter referred to as the "Company".

AND

COMMUNICATIONS. ENERGY AND PAPERWORKERS, CEP and its Local 526, hereinafter referred to as the "Union".

## ARTICLE 1

GENERAL PURPOSE

It is the intent and purpose of the pat-ties hereto 1.01 that this Agreement will promote harmonious industrial and economic relations between the Union, the employees and the Company.

## ARTICLE $\mathbf{2}$

#### RECOGNITION

The term "employee". wherever used in this <sup>2.01</sup> Agreement means all hourly rated employees of the Company in the Bargaining Unit at its Brockville Plant. Assistant Manager. persons above the rank of assistant Manager, guards, office and sales staff arc excluded from the Bargaining Unit,

The Company recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agency of the employees in respect of napes. hours of work and other working conditions.

#### ARTICLE 3

#### MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Union recognizes that it is the exclusive 3.01 function of the Company -  $% \left( {{{\rm{C}}_{{\rm{c}}}}_{{\rm{c}}}} \right)$ 

- (1) To maintain order and efficiency and to discipline employees.
- (2) To hire, discharge, classify, suspend because of lack of work or other cause, direct, transfer, upgrade or downgrade employees within a classification, promote or demote employees from one classification to another, and to increase and decrease working forces, subject to Article 4 (Seniority) of this Agreement. If there is a claim of discriminatory upgrading, downgrading, demotion or transfer or a claim that an employee has been discharged or disciplined without reasonable cause, it may be made the subject of a grievance and be dealt with as provided in this Agreement, provided that such claim must be made within twelve (12) working days after the date the employee has notice of such upgrading. downgrading, demotion, transfer, discharge or other disciplinary action.
- (3) Disciplinary notices or counselling which are more than two (2) years old will not be used as a basis for disciplinary action.

The Company agrees that it will exercise these 3.02 functions in a manner not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

All matters concerning the operation of the 3.03 Company's business not specifically dealt with herein shall be reserved to the Management and be its sole responsibility.

## ARTICLE 4

## SENIORITY

#### An individual's "Seniority" shall mean:

- (a) In the case of an employee in the employment of the Company at the date of this Agreement their length of unbroken service with the Company in the Bargaining Unit as presently established and shown in their service record maintained in the Human Resources Department, plus their length of unbroken service with the Company in the Bargaining Unit which shall have accumulated since the date of this Agreement.
- (b) In the case of a new employee or a former employee who has had a break in service in excess of one (1) year - their length of service with the Company in the Bargaining Unit which shall has accumulated since the date which is sixty (60) working days prior to the date that the employee completes the probationary period, provided that the employee has not suffered a break in service after the date the employee completes their probationary period.
- (c) Notwithstanding the provisions of (a) and (b) no employee now in the service of the Company shall lose credit for seniority accrued to July 9, 1956, on the basis of service with the Company whether or not it was in the Bargaining Unit.
- (d) A former member of the Bargaining Unit who remains in the service of the Company shall not be allowed to transfer back to the Bargaining Unit after an absence of six (6) months.

Such former member of the Bargaining Unit if **returning shall** displace **in accordance with** their seniority, the most junior employee in the plant.

Such former member of the Bargaining Unit shall retain credit for their previously accumulated seniority.

Except that in all cases if, hereafter, there shall be a break or breaks in their service, their seniority date shall be fixed at sixty (60) working days prior to the date the employee completes their probationary period, after their last break in service, and their seniority shall thereafter mean their length of unbroken service with the Company in the Bargaining Unit which shall have accumulated since such seniority date.

In computing the seniority of an employee, 4.02 periods of leave of absence shall be included.

The departments referred to in this Agreement 4.03 shall be those set out in Schedule "A" hereto, together with such other departments as may be established by the Company from time to time to meet the requirements of operations. The Company agrees to notify the *Union* prior to introducing any department, and four (4) weeks prior to discontinuing any department.

(a) Effective May 28, 1968, the expression 4.04 "probationary employee" wherever used in this Agreement shall mean an employee who, within a period of six consecutive months' in which their last hiring date falls, has accumulated less than sixty (60) days actually worked in the employment of the Company at Brockville, Ontario. An employee's probationary period is completed on the day on which the employee works the 60th of such days. A probationary employee shall have no rights under the seniority provisions of this Agreement and may be discharged by the Company with or without assigned cause, and such discharge shall not be open to review under the grievance procedure set out in this Agreement.

(b) Effective May 12, 1975 any individual whose service is broken as set forth in paragraph 4.07 hereof. and is rehired by the Company within one (1) year of such break in service. shall not be required to serve the probationary period as herein before set forth.

The Company shall publish the following reports 4.05 every six (6) months.

- 1) A list showing the seniority and classification of each employee, with a list of employees on leave of absence in excess of thirty (30) days appended.
- 2) Lists of employees in each department, and cells according to their relative seniority.

Copies of these reports shall be provided to the Union and a copy of Report #1 shall be posted on each plant and department bulletin board. Report #2 shall be posted on the bulletin board for that department.

These reports shall be posted for not less than twenty (20) working days. A list setting forth confirmed corrections shall be attached following the initial ten (10) days of the posting period.

The Company agrees that, for the purposes of the employees pension plan, employees disability benefits plan, and for vacation purposes, an employees service with the company shall be bridged upon completion of five (5) continuous

4.06

years of service, following a break in service.

A break in an employee's service and seniority 4.07 shall be deemed to have occurred

- (a) If the employee quits;
- (b) If the employee is discharged;
- (c) If the employee fails to return to work immediately upon the expiration of any leave of absence granted to the employee, or if the employee is absent without leave for three (3) consecutive working days unless in either case the employee is excused by the Company for just cause;
- (d) If the employee is laid off for lack of work and not recalled within:
  - One (1) year if at the date of layoff the employee has less than three (3) years' seniority,
  - Two (2) years' if at the date of layoff the employee has three (3) years' and less than ten (10) years' seniority,
  - Three (3) years' if at the date of layoff the employee has ten (10) or more years' seniority,
- (e) If in any other manner the employee ceases to be employed by the Company.
- (a) When a vacancy, other than a temporary 4.08 vacancy occurs in any classification, such vacancy, if in labour grade 1 and 2, shall be filled from employees within the department, who have accumulated six (6) months' seniority, or possessing preferential rights to transfer back to the department, (as defined in

Paragraph 4.16 hereof) on the basis of seniority. Where there is no one in the department, or no one within the plant who has preferential rights for recall to the department. then if such vacancy has resulted from:

- (I) Termination of the employment of an employee,
- (2) A transfer out of the Bargaining Unit,
- (3) An increase in complement in the department,

The Company shall post notice of the vacancy on the bulletin boards for three (3) consecutive working days. Employees shall be entitled within the said three (3) working days to apply in writing to the Employment Manager to fill such vacancy. Vacancies in Labour Grade 1 and 2 shall be filled from among such applicants on the basis of their seniority. Vacancies in Labour Grade 3 and above shall be filled from among such applicants on the basis of seniority subject to ability to fill such vacancies satisfactorily. If none of the applicants possess the ability to fill such vacancy satisfactorily for labour grade 3 and above positions, and if the vacancy is in labour grade 3 or 4, then such vacancy shall be filled from among such applicants on the basis of seniority subject to them possessing the base qualifications for the vacancy. The Company may however, fill any vacancy on an interim basis for a period of two (2) weeks pending determination of the person entitled to fill such vacancy.

- (b) Temporary vacancies not expected to exceed two (2) weeks duration shall be filled by those employees most reasonably available.
- (c) Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph

4.08 (a), the Company may refuse to **consider** any request by an employee who has applied for and accepted a bid through 4.08(a) in the previous nine (9) months, or has refused to fill a vacancy for which the employee accepted under the provisions of Paragraph 4.08(a)

Employees who are hired or recalled to a position may be refused the use of Paragraph 4.08(a) for fifteen (15) months from the date they were hired or recalled. This includes rights under Paragraph 4.16.

- (d) It is recognized by the Union and the Company that from time to time it will be necessary for reasons of health or as a result of returning from a leave of absence, to place employees in certain jobs. Accordingly, it is agreed that where such situations arise, the Company and the Union will discuss and attempt to mutually agree on jobs for such employees. Where it is mutually agreed to place such employees in certain jobs, they may be so placed and the provisions of Article 4 shall not apply.
- (c) The Company agrees that when an employee is appointed to fill a vacancy as a result of their application under this paragraph, the employee and the Union will be advised of the appointment at the same time.
- (f) Movement within a Cell Classification
- A. 1. When there is a change in the complement of the Cell Classification within a Department and;

When a vacancy occurs, in any Cell, such vacancy must be posted as per article 4.08 a).

Π

When a reduction occurs. in a Cell. within a Classification, the Company must give the senior employees in that Cell Group the option to displace the junior employees in the Classification. Failing this, 4.09 applies.

A.2. When there is no change in the complement of the Classification within a Department;

Seniority will govern within the Cell which has a surplus of employees and the senior employee who wants to move will be allowed to move to the Cell where a vacancy exists.

- A. When reducing force within a Labour 4.09 Grade '3' and above classification within a department, surplus employees within a classification shall be reassigned by seniority, subject to ability to perform the job satisfactorily, in the following sequence:
  - I. The junior employee in their classification within the department will displace the junior employee in their classification in the plant.
  - 2. Failing this displace the junior employee in Labour Grade '3' and above in the plant.
  - 3. Failing this displace the junior employee in Labour Grade '1' to '2' in their department.
  - 4. Failing this displace the junior employee in Labour Grade '1' to '2' within the plant as per Paragraph 4, 13 hereof.

- (B) When reducing force within a labour grade '1' or '2' classification within a department surplus employees within a classification shall be reassigned by seniority.
  - 1. Displace the junior employee within their Labour Grade within their department.
  - 2. Failing this displace the junior employee in Labour Grade '1' to '2' within their department.
  - 3. Failing this displace the junion employee in Labour Grade '1' to '2' within the plant as per Paragraph 4.13 hereof.

Notwithstanding the other provisions of this 4.10 Article, employees may be borrowed by one department from another for a maximum period of two (2) weeks. Subsequent days up to a maximum of ten (IO) working days must be mutually agreed upon by the employee and the Company. The above can be extended upon mutual agreement between the Company and the Union. Failing mutual agreement 4.08 must apply.

When a job is moved to another department, and 4.11 the holder of such job is by reason thereof transferred to such other department, the employee so transferred, shall be entitled to a position on the seniority list in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 4.05 Such employee shall be deemed to have preferential rights to return to their original department as set forth in Paragraph 4.16 hereof.

It is necessary for the successful operation of the 4.12 Company and the maintenance of employment in the future that the Company train prospective

technical and other professional personnel. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 4, the Company may engage or retain for summer or other short term work, not in excess of four (4) months. a limited number of student trainees, regardless of seniority, provided that the operation of the paragraph does not adversely affect the rights of employees under our Agreement.

The number and placement of students will be mutually agreed upon between the Company and the Union. These positions will be considered student positions and posting under 4.08 may not be required. Failing mutual agreement these positions will be posted as per 4.08.

- (a) In the case of layoffs for lack of work, other 4.13than for interruptions of short duration as provided for in Para. 4.14, probationary employees shall be the first to be laid off followed by employees with less than six (6) months seniority who shall be considered to have equal seniority, and thereafter the layoff shall be based upon seniority. Surplus employees will be subject to ability to perform satisfactorily within a four (4) week period any jobs in Labour Grade '3' and above, and maintenance jobs below Labour Grade '3'. In situations where the senior employee is being trained to replace the junior employee the junior employee may be kept for a maximum of eight (8) weeks after the senior person moves to the job
- (b) When employees are to be laid off under the provisions of this Paragraph, due to a reduction in force under the provisions of Paragraph 4.09 hereof, the Company shall advise the Union in advance. Classifications

to be vacated by such laid off employees, when **due to displacement**, will be made available to the employees who are surplus to their departments. The vacated jobs will be offered to the surplus employees based on their seniority, and subject to 4.13 (a).

- (c) Where, as the result of the closing out of their department, an employee is transferred out of their classification, the employee will receive training to fill a vacancy in a classification which they can fill satisfactorily within a six (6) week period, and to which the Company can transfer the employee under the provisions of this Agreement. It is agreed that the employee will receive such training up to six (6) weeks to allow the employee to perform the job satisfactorily.
- (d) A laid-off employee shall be given three (3) working days notice prior to such layoff, or three (3) days pay in lieu thereof, in conjunction with the operation of this paragraph only.

Temporary layoffs within a department (not 4.14 expected to exceed five (5) working days) may be made without regard to seniority to those employees having less than seven (7) years seniority with the Company. If the number of laid off employees exceeds the number of employees having less than seven (7) years seniority, the balance will be laid off by seniority within the affected department subject to the ability to perform satisfactorily the remaining jobs. Such layoffs shall not exceed five (5) working days in each calendar quarter for each employee.

A Union Steward who has six (6) or more 4.15 months' seniority shall be the last to be affected

by a reduction in force in their department, subject to their ability to perform satisfactorily a job within that department. Six (6) Union Officers who have six (6) or more months' seniority shall be the last to be laid off and the first to be recalled.

- (a) Where, as a result of a reduction in force in 4.16any department, an employee who has accumulated six (6) months' seniority has been transferred from a department in which the employee was employed. to another department, the employee shall be entitled for a period of fifteen (15) months and subject to their ability to perform satisfactorily the work available, to be retransferred to the department from which the employce was so transferred (that employee who has the greatest seniority first) before new employees are hired for, or other employees are transferred (except transfers under Paragraph 4.11) into such department. When additional employees are required in the department, former employees eligible under the provisions of this paragraph will be so notified (that employee who has the greatest seniority first) and will indicate to the Company if they wish to retransfer to their former department.
- (b) The preferential right to transfer back shall only apply to the employee's original department for a period of fifteen (t 5) months following the transfer out of the original department, and in any event shall cease when the employee has applied for, and accepted: two transfers under the provisions of Paragraph 4.08 after being transferred out of the department, or has twice refused the opportunity to retransfer to their department,

as provided for under the provisions of Paragraph 4.08(a) hereof.

Every employee who is laid off by the 4.17 Company for lack of work and who was not a probationary employee at the time of layoff, shall have preferential rights for recall in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 4.19, 4.20 and 4.24 hereof, provided the employee has not suffered a break in service as defined in Paragraph 4.07 hereof.

- (a) Upon application, an employee is entitled to a 4.18 leave of absence, due to verified illness or disability, for a period equal to their eligibility for recall as provided for in Paragraph 4.07 hereof.
- (b) As soon as such employee is able to meet the Company's medical standards the employee shall be entitled to return to work in accordance with their seniority. Wherever reasonable under the circumstances, the employee shall be allowed to return to the classification the employee held immediately prior to such leave of absence.
- (a) The Company shall maintain a list of laid off 4.19 individuals who are still entitled to recall rights. When an additional worker is required by the Company it shall examine such list and when the job to be filled is in Labour Grade '2' or lower (excluding maintenance jobs) the Company will select the individual listed thereon who has the greatest seniority

The most senior employee who is capable of performing satisfactorily the job available may be recalled for a maximum of eight (8) weeks while the senior person on the recall list

is being trained for that job

When the job to be filled is in Labour Grade '3' or above (including maintenance jobs) the Company will select the individual listed thereon who has the greatest seniority and who is capable of performing satisfactorily the job available.

The Company shall attempt to communicate with such selected individual to advise the employee of their selection and, when contacted, the selected individual must immediately advise whether or not the employee intends to return to work at the scheduled time. In the scheduling of such time of return to work, the Company will give consideration to the circumstances involved in the return of such employee. Should the Company be unsuccessful in so communicating with the selected individual, the Company shall send the employee a notice by registered mail addressed to the last address which the employee shall have recorded with the Company, and a copy of this notice shall, at the same time, be provided to the Union. Such notice shall state the title of the job for which such individual has been selected, the proposed time and place of reporting (which shall not be less than seven (7) days from date of mailing of such notice by the Company) and such notice shall require the individual to notify the Company in writing within seven (7) days of the mailing of such notice whether or not the employee desires to be recalled for such job.

(b) Employees who are out of seniority, shall be handled under Article 4.19 rather than 4.08(a), when vacancies exist. The "out of seniority" employees will be identified on a list. This list will he updated monthly by the Company with a copy to the Union. It is agreed that this list wilt not be affected by an employee(s) who, for unusual reasons, have not been recalled.

In addition, technical and skilled trades employees, who are out of seniority, will be administered under 4.19 rather than 4.08(a) should they attempt to move to a job that is not in their field of expertise.

The intent of this Agreement is that these employees, who are on the payroll, will have no greater seniority rights with respect to claiming a job than employees who have recall rights.

When employees are kept out of seniority for the training purposes listed under Articles 4.13(a) and 4.19 these individuals will not gain an advantage on their recall rights for the time they are out of seniority.

(a) The individual to whom such notice is sent, 4.20 and who reports ready for work at the time and place of reporting, as set out in their notice, if the employee is then reasonably and physically capable of performing the job satisfactorily, shall be recalled for the job for which the employee was so selected. The Company shall not be required, however, to recall or rehire at any time any individual who fails, on two occasions, to agree to return to work at the scheduled time when first communicated with or who shall have failed to reply within seven (7) days to any notice of

recall mailed by the Company (as provided for in Paragraph 4.19), or who has on two occasions refused the opportunity for recall as provided for in any such notice so mailed to the employee. The Company shall be entitled to fill any jobs available on a temporary basis pending recall of those having preferential rights for recall as hereinbefore set out.

(b) Notwithstanding the above any employee may, upon notice to the Company in writing, designate any job classification to be excluded in the application of the above recall provisions to the employee. Such employee may, however, withdraw such restriction by further notice to the Company in writing. It is expressly understood and agreed that such modification of the recall provisions by an employee shall be confined only to the designation of job classifications for which the employee may wish to claim exclusion.

#### LEAVES OF ABSENCE

The Company shall, on application from the 4.21 Union grant a leave of absence without pay, of not less than four (4) months and not more than twelve (12) months, to not more than two (2) employees of the Company to be absent at one time, who has been designated as either National or District representative of the Union; or President, Business Agent or Financial Secretary of Local 526; subject to the following conditions:

 That the Union give at least two (2) weeks' written notice to the Company designating the employee for whom such leave of absence is requested.

- 2. That the employee so designated may be reasonably replaced.
- 3. That the employee so designated, as of the date their leave of absence may be granted shall have at least six (6) months' service with the Company.

The Company shall also, on application from the 4.22 Union, grant leave of absence without pay to ten (10) employees to attend a maximum of four (4) conventions or conferences per year, subject to the following conditions:

- That the Union give at least two (2) weeks' written notice to the Company designating the employees for whom such leave of absence is requested.
- 2. That the employees so designated may be reasonably replaced.
- 3. Such leave of absence, when granted, shall not exceed ten (10) calendar days on any of the above occasions.

Leave of absence in excess of three (3) working 4.23 days shall, when granted, be in writing.

A pregnant employee is entitled to at least 17 4.24 weeks leave of absence if she has been employed with her employer for at least 13 weeks. Per the Employment Standards Act. in addition to the 17 week pregnancy leave the law provides each working parent with 18 weeks of parental leave.

The pregnancy and parental leave provisions of the Employment Standards Act will apply.

Employment Insurance (EI) benefits are also available for up to 15 weeks during maternity leave and for 10 weeks parental leave.

Provided the employee furnishes proof that they are receiving EI benefits during maternity leave, they will be paid an allowance by the Company at a rate equivalent to 80% of their weekly base rate less EI benefits received, for a maximum of 10 weeks.

#### ARTICLE 5

#### GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Should any difference arise between the Company 5.01 and any employee as to the interpretations, application. administration or alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement, it is agreed between the Company and the Union that such difference will be settled without undue delay in the following manner:

#### STAGE ONE

The employee shall, with reasonable promptness, 5.02 make their representations to their Manager, and in doing so the employee may, if the employee so desires, be accompanied by their designated Steward. If, within two (2) working days after such representations are made. a decision satisfactory to the employee has not been reached, then,

#### STAGE TWO

If, within two (2) working days after the decision 5.03 at stage one has been given, agreement cannot be obtained, then the grievance shall be presented in writing to the Manager and the Steward will notify the Chief Steward, and the Manager will notify the Human Resource Department. The Chief Steward or his designated representative. and a Human Resource representative will discuss the case and the Departmental Manager and the Departmental Steward may be present if so requested by either party. The Human Resource representative shall give their decision within ten

(10) working days after presentation of the grievance in writing to the Manager.

### STAGE THREE

The Union may, within three (3) working days 5.04 after the decision at stage two has been given, present the representations as set out in writing at stage two, to the Director, Human Resources or the designated representative, who will notify the Chairperson of the Union Grievance Committee of the time and place where the employee will meet the President of the Local and not more than four (4) members of the Union Grievance Committee to discuss the difference and endeavoi to settle it. The Director, Human Resources or the designated representive, shall give their decision in writing within ten (10) working days after written notification from the Union has been received advancing the grievance to Stage Three.

The National Representative of the Union may be present at this stage if so requested by either party.

The aggrieved person may be present at any stage 5.05 in the grievance procedure if so requested by either party.

#### DISCHARGE CASES

In the event that any employee other than a 5.06 probationary employee be discharged of suspended from employment after the date hereof, and should the employee or the Union believe that their discharge or suspension was without reasonable cause, such discharge or suspension shall constitute a matter to be dealt with under this grievance procedure, provided however, that no such grievance shall be dealt with once the employee concerned has advised

both the Company and the Union that the grievance is to be dropped.

Any such matter, if it is to be dealt with. shall be presented at Stage Two of this grievance procedure within twelve (12) working days after notice to the employee of discharge or suspension and not otherwise and the First Stage of the grievance procedure shall be omitted. The Company agrees that a discharged or suspended employee shall be granted a private interview with the Chief Steward, or their designated representative, in the Human Resource Office prior to leaving the premises. Such interview shall be for ten (10) minutes and this period may be extended by mutual agreement.

In the event that it should be decided that an 5.07 employee is to be reinstated after discharge or suspension the employee shall he reinstated with or without full compensation for time lost as may be just and equitable in the circumstances. Upon such reinstatement there shall be deemed to have been no break in such employee's service.

#### COMPANY OR UNION GRIEVANCES

(a) Should any difference arise directly between 5.08 the Company and the Union (as distinguished from a difference arising between an employee and the Company) as to the interpretation, application, administration of alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement, it is agreed between the Company and the Union that instead of following the procedure herein set out for the hearing of representations, as the case may be shall be submitted in writing in detail to the other party. An opportunity for oral discussion

between the President and three (3) other members of the Local and the Director, Human Resources or the designated representative, will be given by the party to whom such matter was submitted, and failing settlement, the party to whom such matter was submitted shall deliver to the other party a reply in writing to such submission within ten (10) days after the receipt of such submission.

(b) The National Representative of the Union and/or the Local Union's Council may be present at this meeting if so requested by either party.

#### ARBITRATION

The foregoing procedure, if followed in good 5.09 faith by both parties, should be adequate to reach a fair and expeditious determination of any grievance. In the event, however, that any difference arising from the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement shall not have been satisfactorily settled under the foregoing provisions of this grievance procedure, the matter may then, by notice in writing given to the other party within ten (10) working days after the decision at Stage Three has been or should have been given, whichever is later, (or in the case of a difference arising directly between the Company and the Union, within ten (10) working days after the written reply to the submission was or should have been delivered, whichever is later) be referred either by the Company or the Union to arbitration as hereinafter provided.

Any matter properly referred to arbitration under 5.10 the provision of this grievance procedure shall be heard by a board of three (3) arbitrators composed of an arbitrator appointed by the Company, an arbitrator appointed by the Union and a third arbitrator who shall be Chairperson.

The Union and the Company shall each, within 5.11 five (5) working days from the date of notice of arbitration, appoint its arbitrator and each party so appointing an arbitrator shall forthwith give written notice of such appointment to the other party. The Chairperson shall be selected by mutual agreement of the two (2) arbitrators so appointed, or failing agreement within ten (10) working days after their appointment, the Minister of Labour of the Province of Ontario shall be requested, in writing, to appoint the Chairperson. Such Chairperson should be selected having regard to their impartiality, their qualifications in the interpretation of agreements and their familiarity with industrial matters.

All steps necessary for the selection of a 5.12 Chairperson of a Board of Arbitration shall be taken by the party referring the matter to arbitration within twenty-five (25) working days after the appointment of its arbitrator.

The Union and the Company shall respectively 5.13 pay the expenses of and fees payable to the arbitrator selected by each. The Union and the Company shall each be responsible for one-half (1/2) of the expenses of and fees payable to the Chairperson to the amount which the Chairperson may reasonably require.

The finding of the majority of the arbitrators as to 5.14 the facts and as to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the

provisions of this Agreement shall be conclusive and binding upon all parties concerned, the decision of the majority is the decision of the Arbitration Board, but if there is no majority, the decision of the Chairperson governs, but in no event shall the arbitrators be authorized to alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement, to add thereto or to give any decision inconsistent with the terms or provisions of this Agreement. Where an Arbitration Board determines that an employee has been discharged or otherwise disciplined for cause, the Arbitration Board may substitute such other penalty for the discharge of discipline as to the Arbitration Board seems just and reasonable in all the circumstances.

#### GENERAL

5.15

Should any employee or party desire to take advantage of the procedure provided for in this grievance procedure for the settlement of differences, each step in such procedure (up to and including the appointment of a Board of Arbitration) required to effect a satisfactory disposition of the matter shall be taken by such employee or party within the time limits herein set forth or the matter will be deemed to have advanced to the succeeding stage, up to and including arbitration.

Any and all time limits fixed by this grievance 5.16 procedure for the taking of any action may be extended by written agreement of the Company and the Union.

Following any interview with a manager or 5.17 supervisor, in which an employee's performance has been discussed, the employee concerned may request a second interview at which the

employee's designated steward may be present. If a Counselling or Reprimand form, or a formal derogatory notation is to be placed in an employee's file, the employee concerned, and the Union shall be provided with a copy.

# STEWARDS and GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE

The Stewards (including the Chief Steward and 5.18 Grievance Committee) herein referred to, shall be designated in writing from time to time by the Union to the Company, shall be employees and shall consist of an aggregate total of not more than one Steward for each twenty-five (25) employees. The Union shall also, in such designation to the Company, state the group of employees for whom each such Steward may act.

In the discretion of the Union, any Steward may 5.19 be the Chief Steward and/or a Grievance Committee member, but the total number of employees designated by the Union as Stewards (including the Chief Steward) shall in no event exceed the aggregate total above set forth.

Grievance Committee members, the grieving 5.20 employee, the President of the Union or their representative, shall be allowed such time off as shall be reasonably required to attend such necessary meetings with supervisory and management personnel as are provided for in this grievance procedure, and in addition each Steward, shall be allowed time off, not in excess of one (1) hour per week spent by the employee during their regular working hours in handling grievances as provided for in this Agreement, subject, however, to obtaining permission (which shall not be unreasonably withheld) from their Manager. The Chief Steward shall be allowed

time off not in excess of five (5) hours per week, spent by the employee during their regular working hours in handling grievances as provided for in this Agreement, subject, however to obtaining permission (which shall not be unreasonably withheld) from their Manager. The period of one (1) hour per week, or the period of five (5) hours per week, as applicable, however, may be extended by mutual agreement, and if so extended it must be made a matter of record.

The Company shall pay Stewards, Grievance 5.21 Committee members, the grieving employee and the President of the Union, for any time lost by them from their work during their regular working hours in connection with any of their duties herein mentioned. Members of the Union Grievance Committee will be paid at their average rate of earnings (excluding premium pay) for time spent by them at Stage Three meetings called outside their scheduled working hours by the Director, Human Resources or their designated representative. The making of any such payments shall in no manner preclude the Company from discontinuing such payments at any time, if in the opinion of the Company, the time off for such purposes is excessive.

The Union may appoint any member of the 5.22 Bargaining Unit to act as a designated representative in connection with the administration of this Article. Such designated representative may act in place of any Local Officer, Steward, or Grievance Committee member, and the names of any such designated representatives shall be notified to the Company in writing, in advance of their carrying out any activity in connection with the administration of this Article.

## ARTICLE 6

## WAGES

- (a) The Union agrees that the straight time hourly rates. for the various job classifications shall be as set out in Schedule "B". attached hereto, to be effective on May 12, 1998, and the Company agrees that such rates shall not be changed during the life of this Agreement unless by mutual agreement.
- (b) When the Company establishes a new job classification, or revises an existing job classification, the Company will supply the Union with the name, number, job description, date of implementation, and Labour Grade. The Labour Grade shall be subject to negotiations between the Company and the Union but, failing agreement before the date of implementation, the Company shall have the right to implement the Labour Grade as proposed originally. Should the parties subsequently fail to agree upon the Labour Grade, the Union shall have the right to grieve as set out in Paragraph 5.08 hereof.
- (c) The Company agrees that prior to the implementation of any new or revised job description, as set out in Paragraph 6.01 (b), of the Contract, the Hourly Job Evaluation Committee, comprised of two (2) employees designated by the Union and two (2) employees designated by the Company, will evaluate the position.

The Committee shall be prepared to discuss the functions, job duties. and prerequisites of the classification concerned. Where an employee is moved from one job 6.02 classification to another the employee shall receive the rate of the job classification to which the employee is moved, An employee may be moved to any job for a period not in excess of two (2) weeks at their personal rate, or the rate of the classification to which the employee is transferred, whichever is higher.

Minimum Starting Rates	Effective	6.03
Labour Grades I and 2: Labour Grades 3,4,5 & 6:	May 12, 2000 \$12.35 \$13.67	
Labour Grades 1 and 2: Labour Grades 3,4,5 & 6:	Effective May 12, 2001 \$12.60 \$13.94	
Labour Grades 1 and 2: Labour Grades 3,4,5 & 6:	Effective May 12, 2002 \$12.85 \$14.22	

New employees may remain at their starting rate during the probationary period but must be given a classification as set out under Schedule "B" and receive the rate for that classification immediately on completion of the probationary period.

- a) Effective May 12, 2000 Schedule "B" Section 6.04
  2 of the Collective Agreement shall be adjusted to include an increase of 2% for all Labour Grades.
- b) Effective May 12, 2000 each employee shall receive a 2% increase to their personal rate.
- c) Effective May 12, 2001 Schedule "B" Section 2 of the Collective Agreement shall be adjusted to include an increase of 2% for all Labour Grades.

- d) Effective May 12, 2001 each employee shall receive a 2% increase to their personal rate.
- e) Effective May 12, 2002 Schedule "B" Section 2 of the Collective Agreement shall reflect an increase of 2% for all Labour Grades.
- f) Effective May 12, 2002 each employee shall receive a 2% increase to their personal rate.

#### ARTICLE 8

#### PREMIUM PAY

For the purposes of this Agreement the work 8.01 week shall be deemed to commence immediately after Midnight, Saturday. and to terminate immediately before Midnight Saturday the next following.

The last five (5) minutes of working time prior to 802 lunch will be granted for washing up.

For the purpose of interpreting this Article, an 8.03 employee's work day shall be deemed to consist of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours immediately following the commencement of their first scheduled work shift on that calendar day.

An employee having worked eight (8) hours at 8.04 their straight time hourly rate in their work day shall be paid for the first four (4) additional hours worked by them in that work day at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times their straight time hourly rate.

An employee shall be paid at the rate of two (2) 8.05 times their straight time hourly rate for all consecutive hours so worked by them (with or without a mealtime break) in excess of twelve (12) hours.

An employee shall be paid for hours worked on 8.06 Saturday at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times their straight time hourly rate.

An employee shall be paid for hours worked on 8.07 Sunday at the rate of two (2) times their straight time hourly rate

An employee instructed to report for work outside 8.08 their scheduled shift hours, other than immediately before or immediately after (with or without a mealtime break) one of their scheduled shifts, shall be entitled to a minimum of four (4) hours' pay at their straight time hourly rate.

An employee who reports for work on time at the 8.09 commencement of their scheduled shift or within eighteen (18) minutes thereafter, without having been instructed by the Company not to do so, shall be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) consecutive hours work at their straight time hourly rate of pay on such shift, provided that this guarantee also shall not apply to any period for which the employee is late or in the event that the operations of the Company are affected by a labour dispute or in the event of fire, electrical failure, flood, failure of water supply, major mechanical failure or other major catastrophe. This guarantee shall also not apply in the case of an employee who has been absent from their scheduled work and who has failed to inform the Company of their intention to return.

It is expressly understood and agreed that apart 8.10 from the guaranteed minimums mentioned in the preceding paragraphs hereof, no employee shall be entitled under the provisions of this Article to be paid at a rate in excess of night shift premium plus two (2) times their straight time hourly rate for any hour worked.

A night shift premium of ten percent (10%) will 8.11 be paid for night shift work over day shift work. A "night shift" shall mean any shift commencing at or after 2:00 p.m. or before 6:00 a.m. in any calendar day.

- (a) When overtime is scheduled in advance in a 8.12 department, such overtime will be distributed equitably among the group of employees who normally perform such work. and the distribution will be reviewed on a quarterly basis. The Company may allocate overtime under unusual or emergency conditions, on a short term basis, to those employees who is required by the Company to work hours outside of their regularly scheduled shift shall be required to take time out of their regular shift to offset such hours.
- (b) Each Manager shall maintain, on a weekly basis, a record detailing all overtime made available and worked within their area of supervision. Upon request, the manager shall make this record available for examination in their department, by any employee reporting to the manager.
- (c) Whenever an employee is allocated overtime during a regularly scheduled shift, to be worked at the conclusion of that shift, and for a period in excess of one hour, the Company agrees to provide the employee with a meal ticket, which may be exchanged at the Company cafeteria for a meal to a maximum value of six dollars and twenty-five cents (\$6.25) effective May 12, 1992 during its normal hours of operation. at no charge to the employee. Effective May 12, 1993 the meal ticket may be exchanged for a meal to a maximum value of six dollars and fifty cents (\$6.50).

- (a) While it is agreed by both parties that 8.13 overtime is undesirable, it is recognized that a reasonable amount of overtime is necessary for the efficient operation of the Company's business. If emergency conditions arise necessitating overtime, employees will cooperate and the appropriate overtime rates will be paid.
- (b) Failure to work overtime when requested, unless it constitutes a failure to co-operate, will not be a matter for disciplinary action.
- (c) There shall be no concerted failure to work overtime

#### ARTICLE 9

#### **RECOGNIZED** HOLIDAYS

 (a) The operations of the Company will not 9.01 normally be continued on the following days which shall be Recognized Holidays: New Year's Day Good Friday Victoria Day
 Christmas Day

Boxing Day

- Canada Day August Civic Holiday
- (b) Each year the Company shall declare three (3) additional days as Recognized Holidays. The dates for such additional Recognized Holidays shall be fixed by the Company after consultation with the Union.
- (c) If one of the above mentioned holidays falls on Saturday, it shall be observed on the Friday next preceding; and if the holiday falls on Sunday, it shall be observed on the Monday next, succeeding.

The July 1st holiday will be observed on the Monday of the long weekend during the life of the Collective Agreement.

Any employee who by reason of the observance 9.02 of such holiday is not scheduled to work by the Company, when they would otherwise have done so, shall be paid a holiday allowance equal to a day's pay, subject to fulfilling all the following conditions:

- 1. The employee must have completed thirty (30) clays worked, prior to the observance of the holiday, and
- 2. The employee must have worked their scheduled shift commencing on the working day next preceding the observance of such holiday. and their scheduled shift commencing on the first working day succeeding such holiday,

#### 01

If the employee is absent for either of the two qualifying shifts hereinbefore mentioned due to verified illness, death in their immediate family, jury duty, or because the employee has been sent home for lack of work, or has obtained prior written permission to be absent, provided that the employee works during the week in which the holiday is observed by the Company,

or

If the employee is absent throughout the week in which the holiday is observed by the Company due to verified illness, death in their immediate family, jury duty, or because the employee has been sent home for lack of work, or has obtained prior written permission to be absent, provided that the employee works throughout the work week next preceding the week in which the holiday is

observed by the Company, or throughout the work week next, succeeding.

Should an employee be required to work a 9.03 shift, or part thereof commencing on any such holiday the employee shall be paid for work so performed at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times their straight time hourly rate for the first eight (8) hours and at the rate of two (2) times their straight time hourly rate for all additional hours in addition to any holiday allowance to which he may be entitled under the provisions of this Article.

For the purpose of this Article "a day's pay" shall 9.04 mean an employees straight time hourly rate multipled by eight, plus night shift premium if otherwise scheduled to work a qualifying shift.

It is expressly understood and agreed that no 9.05 employee shall be entitled under the provisions of this Article to be paid at a rate in excess of night shift premium plus two (2) times their straight time hourly rate (apart from any holiday allowance to which the employee may be entitled) for any hours worked by the employee on a holiday.

#### ARTICLE 10

#### VACATIONS

Each employee who, at their established service 10.01 anniversary date, with the Company, has completed thirty-two (32) years' or more continuous service with the Company, shall receive for that year six (6) weeks' vacation and vacation pay as provided in Paragraph 10.09.

Each employee who, at their established service 10.02 anniversary date, with the Company, has completed eighteen (18) years' or more continuous service with the Company, shall receive for that year five (5) weeks' vacation and vacation pay as provided in Paragraph 10.09.

Each employee who, at their established service 10.03 anniversary date, with the Company, has completed ten (10) years' continuous service, but less than eighteen (18) years' continuous service, shall receive for that year four (4) weeks vacation and vacation pay as provided *in* Paragraph 10.09.

Each employee who, at their established service 10.04 anniversary date, with the Company, has completed three (3) years', and less than ten (10) years' continuous service with the Company, shall receive for that year three (3) weeks vacation and vacation pay as provided in Paragraph 10.09.

Each employee who, at their established service 10.05 anniversary date, with the Company, has completed one (1) year and less than three (3) years' continuous service with the Company, shalt receive for that year two (2) weeks vacation, and vacation pay as provided in Paragraph 10.09, or in accordance with the provisions of the Ontario Employment Standards Act.

Each employee who, as at June 30th of a year has 10.06 completed less than one (1) year's continuous service, shall receive for that year vacation pay in accordance with the provisions of the Ontario Employment Standards Act.

Where a holiday as referred to in Article 9 hereof 10.07 occurs during an employee's vacation period on a normal work day, Monday to Friday, inclusive, on which the employee would otherwise have worked were it not a holiday or part of their vacation, another day's vacation shall be granted to the employee immediately before or after their vacation period.

Subsequent to May 9, 1955, periods in excess of 10.08 sixty (60) days during which an employee is laid off or on leave of absence (excluding leaves not exceeding one year for sickness or for Union business, or not exceeding thirty-five (35) consecutive weeks for approved pregnancy leave) shall be deducted in calculating an employee's continuous service with the Company for the purpose of this Article only and in the event that an employee's service is broken under the provisions of Article 4 hereof and the employee shall thereafter be rehired, their continuous service with the company for the purpose of this Article shall thereafter be calculated from the date of such rehiring only.

(a) Each employee who has completed one or 10.09 more years' continuous service at June 30th of a year and has worked eighteen hundred (1800) straight time hours or more in the twelve (12) months ended on that date, shall receive as vacation pay for that year, an amount determined by multiplying their current straight time hourly rate by the number of hours set opposite the years of continuous service completed by the employee at June 30th of that year as follows:

### **Continuous Service**

# Paid Vacation

Less than 1 year	*
or	
1 year and less than 3 years	80 hours*
OK	
3 pears and less than 10 years	120 hours
01	
10 years and less than 18 years	160 hours
01	
18 years and less than 32 years	200 hours
or	
32 years and over	240 hours

less any vacation pay previously received by the employee for that year as provided in paragraph 10.12.

- \* Or in accordance with the provisions of the Ontario Employment Standards Act.
- (b) Any employee who has not worked eighteen hundred (1800) straight time hours or more in the vacation year July 1 to June 30, shall have their vacation pay for that year calculated on their earnings for that year in accordance with Paragraph 10.12.
- (c) The expression "eighteen hundred (1800) straight time hours or more" includes actual hours worked (excluding overtime hours); hours covered under the short term disability benefit plan (including waiting period); recognized holidays; vacation hours at 40 hours per week; lost time hours covered under death in the immediate family; civic duty; and paid Union activities.

40

.

Pre-arranged, unpaid hours devoted to Union business, with prior approval from the Human Resources Department, and absences due to verified illness, supported by an affidavit acceptable to the Company, shall be included in calculating the '1800 hours' feature.

Time lost while on long term disability, unpaid Union activities and unpaid lost time are not included.

The periods allotted to employees for vacations 10.10 will be established by the Management, and vacation periods will be such as to cause the minimum of interference with the plant operations, but will be, whenever possible, between June 1st and September 30th.

Every eligible employee will be, on request, 10.11 notified of their vacation pay and period as far in advance as possible, but the right is reserved to make changes in vacation periods at any time when such action is considered necessary.

Normally all vacations will be taken before the end of the calendar year and a temporary shutdown for any reason may be designated for vacation, provided that such designation is made at least seven (7) days in advance.

No employee shall be considered as laid off for such period designated for vacation by reason of such shutdown.

Each employee who ceases active employment 10.12 with the Company, (other than those whose employment was terminated for reasonable cause) including without limitation protracted layoff for lack of work, will be paid as vacation pay for the period since the preceding July 1st, an

amount calculated on their individual earnings during such period as follows:

Continuous	Pay as % of Earnings From Preceding July 1
Service	5,
Less than 3 years	4%*
Or	
3 years and less than 10 years	6%
01	
10 years and less than 18 years	8%
OI	
18 years and less than 32 years	10%
01	
32 years and over	12%

less any vacation pay previously received by the employee for that year as provided in Paragraph 10.12.

\* Or in accordance with the provisions of the Ontario Employment Standards Act.

Employees whose employment has been terminated 10.13 for reasonable cause will be paid vacation pay in accordance with the provisions of the Province of Ontario Employment Standards Act, in lieu of any vacation and vacation pay otherwise provided for in this Article.

Vacations may not be postponed by an employee after the end of the calendar year and any vacation not taken by the end of that time will be forfeited. However, where mutually agreed upon by both the Company and the employee a maximum of one weeks vacation may be carried by an employee past the end of the calendar year. In addition an employee who qualifies for four weeks or more of vacation may, where mutually agreed upon, carry a maximum of two weeks vacation past the end of the calendar year. This vacation must be used by the end of April of the succeeding calendar year or the time will be forfeited.

No employee shall be entitled to continue work 10.15 during their vacation period.

## ARTICLE 11

### HEALTH CARE

- (a) The Company will pay and maintain the full 11.01 cost of the Ontario Health Insurance Benefit.
- (b) The Company will pay and maintain the benefits for the Liberty Extended Health Care Plan \$10/\$20 deductible option and for the Liberty Semiprivate Hospital Insurance Plan that are currently in effect.
- (c) The Company will pay and maintain the benefits for the Great West Life Assurance Dental Plan that is currently in effect.

Effective May 12, 2000, the 2000 Ontario Dental Association fee schedule will apply.

Effective January 1, 2002, the 2001 Ontario Dental Association fee schedule will apply.

Effective January 1, 2003, the 2002 Ontario Dental Association fee schedule will apply.

Effective May 12, 1996 the Dental Plan will be modified to cover oral examinations, cleaning teeth, topical application of fluoride solutions, bite-wing x-rays and oral hygiene instructions, once every nine months.

The Dental Plan will cover 50% of the necessary dental treatment which has as its objective the correction of malocclusion of the teeth, for dependent children ages 6 to 18 years, to a maximum reimbursement of \$1950.00 for the lifetime of each individual for claims incurred on or after May 12, 2000.

- (d) The Company will pay and maintain health covet-age for Out-of-Province and Country travel insurance.
- (e) When prescribed and dispensed by a registered, certified OI licensed ophthalmologist or optometrist the Company will pay and maintain the benefits for a Vision Care Plan for employees and dependent family members. Payment will not exceed \$120.00 once every 24 months. The plan does not provide coverage for eye examinations; non-prescription sunglasses; safety glasses, OI services or supplies which are not for personal use.

Dependents must be in fact wholly dependent on 11.02 the employee for the full month to qualify the employee for a payment on their behalf, if the employee is otherwise eligible, of an amount greater than that provided for single employees.

An employee who works less than ten (10) 11.03 working days in any month shall not be entitled to have a payment made for them for that month, unless such failure to work ten (10) days was specifically due to either:

- (a) Disability resulting from verified illness of accident arising directly from thein employment with the Company, with compensation for loss of earnings provided under Workplace Safety & Insurance Board legislation, or,
- (b) Causes for which compensation for loss of earnings was provided on a discretionary basis by the Company.

#### ARTICLE 12

#### JURY SERVICE

The Company shall pay an employee serving as a 2.01 juror, or called as a Crown Witness, on the basis of a day's pay or fraction thereof as defined in Paragraph 9.04 of this Agreement, for each normal working day lost while on jury duty, or acting as a Crown Witness, at the usual pay periods, provided the employee agrees to endorse to the Company all cheques received for such service, rendered on such normal working days.

## ARTICLE 13

#### DEATH IN THE IMMEDIATE FAMILY

In the event of the death of the wife, husband, 13.01 child, parent, common-law spouse, brother, sister, or grandchild of an employee, the employee shall be allowed three (3) clays off with pay on a per diem basis as defined in Paragraph 9.04 of this agreement for funeral purposes.

In the event of the death of a parent-in-law, 13.02 brother or sister-in-law, grandparent or son-in-law or daughter-in-law of an employee, the employee shall be allowed two (2) days off with pay on a per diem basis as defined in Paragraph 9.04 of this agreement for funeral purposes.

In the event any employee's vacation is 13.03 interrupted due to bereavement as set forth above, the employee shall be allowed additional vacation days immediately following such vacation, equal to the appropriate number of days set forth in either 13.01 or 13.02 above.

## ARTICLE 14

## SAFETY

The Company shall continue to make reasonable 14.01(a) provision for the safety of its employees at the plant during the hours of their employment.

The Union WSIB representative will be provided 14.01(b) with a copy of each Employer's Form 7.

The Company agrees that subsidies shall be 14.02 provided for approved personal safety equipment, for the exclusive use of the employee, as follows:

 Safety Footwear - Effective. May 12, 1996 a <sup>15.01</sup> subsidy of sixty-two (\$62.00) or fifty percent (50%) of the cost, whichever is less shall be provided for each pair of safety footwear, to a maximum of two (2) pairs within any twelve (12) month period, purchased by an employee in an approved manner.

Effective May 12, 2000 the Company will pay the full cost for each pair of safety footwear for Electricians, to a maximum of two (2) pairs within any twelve (12) month period, purchased in an approved manner.

2. Safety Glasses - Effective May 12, 2000 a subsidy of one hundred ninety (\$190.00) plus the full fitting cost as required, shall be provided for approved, prescription-ground safety glasses, to a maximum of one (1) pair within any twelve (12) month period, purchased by an employee in an approved manner.

Additional replacement prescription -ground safety glasses required within the twelve (12) month period, due to accidental damage, loss or new prescription requirements will also be covered in an approved manner.

## ARTICLE 15

## NO DISCRIMINATION OR COERCION

The Union agrees that it will not, nor will it 15.02 permit its agents or members to engage in intimidation or coercion to obtain members or to discriminate against or to intimidate employees who are not members of the Union. The Union agrees to refrain from soliciting membership on the Company's time. The Union agrees to refrain from conducting any business or other activity on the Company's time or property except as 16.01 provided for under the terms of this Agreement.

The Company agrees that there will be no discrimination against or intimidation of any employee.

## ARTICLE 16

## NO STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS

The Company agrees that there shall be no lockout and the Union agrees that there shall be no slow-down, sit-down, strike or other stoppage of or interference with work during the term of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 17

#### BULLETIN BOARDS

The Company agrees that the Union may use 17.01 bulletin boards designated for the purpose, provided that the use by the Union of the bulletin boards shall be restricted to the posting thereon only of such notices as have received the approval of the Management prior to posting and that the subject matter of the notices shall be restricted to matters pertaining to recreational or social activities. Notices of meetings or notices of the results of elections in regard to the affairs of this plant may be posted without prior Management approval. All notices must be signed by an authorized representative of the Union.

Use of the bulletin boards by the Union or its  $_{17,02}$  representatives will be continued so long as the boards are used in the manner provided above, and material posted thereon is not considered by the Company to be offensive.

The Union agrees that it will not distribute 17.03 pamphlets or other publications on the premises of the Company without the Company's prior approval.

## ARTICLE 18

#### UNION SECURITY

Each month, during the life of this Agreement, the 18.04 Company shall as a condition of each employee's continued employment, deduct from the earnings accumulated to the credit of such employee an amount equal to the current dues of the Local. The amount to be deducted by the Company will be certified by the President of the Local to the

Company in writing and shall be stated in a **uniform** amount **in** dollars **end** cents **fool- each** employee. The Company shall, together with a detailed list of such collections, remit same by cheque payable to the order of the Union before the 29th of each month. The said amounts shall be accepted by the Union as the current monthly dues of those employees who are or shall be members of the Union, and the amount so deducted from non-members of the Union shall be treated as their contribution toward the expenses of maintaining the Union.

On written authority from an employee upon the requisite form obtained from the Union, the Company shall deduct from the earnings accumulated to the credit of such employee an initiation fee as certified by the President of the Local to the Company in writing and shall remit same as set forth above.

It is understood and agreed that the Union will 18.03 save the Company harmless from any and all claims which may be made against it by an employee or employees for amounts deducted from earnings as herein provided.

## ARTICLE 19

## RULES AND REGULATIONS

The Union recognizes that it is the exclusive <sup>19.01</sup> function of the Company to make or alter from time to time rules and regulations to be complied with by its employees, provided that such rules and regulations are not contrary to the provisions of this Agreement. The Company agrees to furnish the Union with a copy of any new or

altered Company rule or regulation two (2) days in advance of posting whenever possible.

### ARTICLE 20

#### GOVERNMENT SECURITY REGULATIONS

The Union recognizes that the Company may 20.01 have certain obligations in its contracts with the Government pertaining to security. and agrees that nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to place the Company in violation of any Security Agreement with the Government.

Therefore, in the event that any Government 20.02 agency concerned with security regulations, advises the Company that any employee is restricted from work on, or access to. classified information or material, the Union will not contest any reasonable action the Company may take to comply with its security obligations to the Government.

## ARTICLE 21

## WORKING HOURS

The following paragraph is intended to define the 21.01 normal hours of work and shall not be construed as a guarantee of hours of work per day or per week, or of days of work per week.

The normal work week shall, apart from 21.02 overtime. consist of forty hours per week, comprised of five eight-hour days. Monday to Friday. inclusive.

in

Employees working on continuous shifts will be 21.03 granted a 25-minute paid lunch period.

The Company agrees that any pay adjustment due 21.04 to an employee reporting late shall reflect only the actual extent of the lateness, as indicated on the employee's time card.

Upon request, the President, Vice President, Chief <sup>21.05</sup> Steward, and the Chairperson of the Grievance Committee of the Local will be assigned to a permanent day shift, provided that, in the opinion of the Company, this arrangement can be reasonably made. The Union agrees to save the Company harmless from any and all claims which may be made against it by any employee who may be adversely affected by this provision.

The Company shall provide an employee with at 21.06 least forty-eight (48) hours notice of any unscheduled change in the shift, except under emergency conditions when the opportunity to provide such notice is not reasonably available to the Company. Premium pay as per Article 8 will apply.

For non work related reasons. where it is mutually agreed to by the employee and the Company, a shift change can take place without forty-eight (48) hours notice and premium payments as a result of the number of hours worked in a day under Article 8, will not apply.

The Company shall make every reasonable effort 21.07 to assign shift work within a department on the basis of seniority subject to ability to perform the job satisfactorily.

## ARTICLE 22

## EMPLOYEES' WORK

Employees of the Company not in the Bargaining 22.01 Unit will not do work ordinarily performed by employees in the Bargaining Unit except for:

(a) Instruction and training of employees. and

(b) Emergency work when employees are absent or not reasonably available as required.

### ARTICLE 23

### UNION AND COMPANY REPRESENTATIVES

The Union agrees to furnish the Company with 23.01 the names of its duly elected officers and representatives appointed to perform any act in connection with the carrying out of this Agreement and undertakes to promptly notify the Company of any change in these officers or appointed representatives.

The Company agrees to furnish the Union with a 23.02 list of names of the officers and supervisor! personnel with whom the Union may have transactions in connection with the administration of this Agreement and undertakes to promptly notify the Union of any change in these officers or supervisory personnel.

## ARTICLE 24

### INFORMATION TO THE UNION

Copies of all general notices which are posted on  $_{24,01}$  the plant bulletin hoards which deal with hours of

work, wages or working conditions, will be sent to the President of the Local Union.

Each month the President of the Local Union 24.02 shall he sent a list, showing department, seniority dates, clock numbers and rates of pay of the employees who, during the month have:

(a) Been recalled, laid off or terminated, and

(b) Been granted leave of absence (the period of leave to be shown).

The Company agrees to advise the Union when an 24.03 employee has been subject to a disciplinary suspension. Such information will provide a brief outline of the circumstances and the action taken by the Company.

Each month the Company will provide the Union 24.04 with a list of the classification changes and changes in rates of pay, within the Bargaining Unit, for the preceding month.

#### ARTICLE 25

#### GROUP LIFE INSURANCE

The Company agrees that the benefit provisions <sup>25.01</sup> of the contributory and non-contributory Group Life Insurance Plans, as they apply to members of the Bargaining Unit, shall not be reduced during the life of the Collective Agreement

The Group Life Insurance Plan has been 25.02 expanded as follows:

1. The insurance benefit shall be rounded to the next higher \$1,000.00.

- 2. Employees may purchase coverage equal to twice their basic annual earnings.
- 3. Employees may insure their spouse for \$5,000.00 and each dependent child for \$1,000.00 (eligibility for dependent life insurance equivalent to eligibility for medical benefits). at plan effective date the employee contribution will be \$1.00 per month.
- 4. Additional children will be covered automatically from birth.
- 5. Following any change excluding a dependent from further coverage, conversion to an individual life insurance policy is available under the same rules applying to employee life insurance.

## ARTICLE 26

## EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN

- (al Effective May 12, 2000 the Pension Plan shall provide that the monthly pension for each full year of service (as defined in the Pension Plan) shall be \$41.00 and a pro-rata amount for a partial year of service.
- (b) Effective May 12, 2001 the Pension Plan shall provide that the monthly pension for each full year of service (as defined in the Pension Plan) shall be \$42.50 and a pro-rata amount for a partial year of service.
- (c) Effective May 12, 2002 the Pension Plan shall provide that the monthly pension for each full year of service (as defined in the Pension Plan) shall be \$44.00 and a pro-rata amount for a partial year of service.

The above are modifications to the Pension Plat 26.02 as they apply to member-s of the Bar-gaining Unit and full details of the Pension Plan are provided therein.

The Company agrees that the benefit provisions 26.03 of the Pension Plan, as they apply to members of the Bargaining Unit, shall not be reduced during the life of the Collective Agreement.

The Company agrees to modify the Company 26.04 Pension Plan, to provide the surviving spouse of an employee with a benefit equal to the commuted value of the benefits that would have been payable if the employee had terminated their employment, if at the time of death they were eligible for a pension under the "Rule of 78" provisions of the Pension Plan.

Effective May 12, 1998 the Normal Form of Pension will be paid as a Joint & 60% Survivon Pension.

Guaranteed Pension - an employee who qualifies 26.05 for a service pension may elect to receive a reduced service pension payable during their life, with payments guaranteed for a period of not less than five (5) years nor more than ten (10) years.

The Company agrees to modify the Company 26.06 Pension Plan in accordance with the Income Tax Regulations ITR 8503(3) (c) and ITR 8509(2)(b), whereby a member of a pension plan can retire with an unreduced pension when the sum of the member's age plus service equals 80. Effective January 1, 1992 for plan members who retire under the Rule of 78 prior to attaining Rule of 80, a 3% early retirement reduction is then required, unless the member has already attained age 60 or completed 30 years of service Full details are provided in the Pension Plan.

Extended Health Care Benefits on Retirement:

The company will provide Extended Health Care 26.07 Benefits to employees retiring after May 12, 1992 for a period of five (5) years or to age 65. whichever comes first.

The Extended Health Care plan for retirees will be the Liberty Formulary 3 Drug Plan and excludes coverage for hospitalization and overthe-counter drugs.

The Company will pay the full cost of the premiums for the plan which will reimburse 100% of the covered expenses in excess of the deductible which will be \$25 single and \$50 family.

Benefits provided under this plan are in accordance with the Liberty Formulary 3 Drug Plan guidelines.

#### ARTICLE 27

#### EMPLOYEE DISABILITY BENEFIT PLANS

The Company agrees that the benefit provisions 27.01 of the Employee Disability Benefit Plans. as they apply to members of the Bargaining Unit shall not be reduced during the life of the Collective Agreement.

#### SHORT TERM DISABILITY BENEFITS

If you are disabled due to a verified accidental 27.02 injury arising out of and in the course of your employment, you will be compensated by the Workplace Safety & Insurance Board.

While the employee is waiting for an entitlement **decision from** W.S.I.B., **the Company** agrees to pay the employee an amount equivalent to the expected W.S.I.B. payment.

If the claim is accepted the employee will be placed on W.S.I.B. If the claim is rejected the employee will be placed on Short Term Disability retroactively. In either case the employee will reimburse the Company any advance payments made to them during this period.

If you are unable to work due to verified sickness not covered by the Workplace Safety & Insurance Board Act you will receive the following benefits according to your length of service commencing on the fourth working day of said absence.

If you are unable to work due to verified accidental injury not arising out of and in the course of your employment you wilt receive the following benefits according to your length of service commencing on the first working day of said absence.

If you are committed to a public hospital, you wilt receive the following benefits according to your length of service commencing on the first day of said commitment.

- a) With 3 months to IO years service 80% of normal weekly earnings up to a maximum of 16 weeks; 50% of normal weekly earnings for the succeeding 10 weeks.
- b) With 10 years or more service 80% of normal weekly earnings up to a maximum of 26 weeks.
- c) Medical reports required by the Company must be paid by the Company.

Employees will not be required to sign a specific waiver of benefits and all existing waivers wilt be cancelled.

Employees would again qualify for benefits after returning to work for a one-month period.

The expression "normal weekly earnings" wherever used in calculating short term benefit pay shall mean the straight time hourly rate multiplied by forty.

Employees qualified to receive a vacation with pay and who are receiving benefits at the time then vacation is scheduled to take place shall, unless they request otherwise, be reinstated on the payroll of the Company and shall receive the vacation pay for which they are qualified, and during such vacation period benefits shall be suspended; and if upon expiration of such vacation period the disability continues benefits shall be resumed, and the period for which vacation pay was effective shall not be treated as part of the term of such disability.

### LONG-TERM DISABILITY BENEFITS

Eligibility - Employees under age 64 1/2 who 27.03 have completed both a service waiting period of three months and their probationary period.

**Qualifying Period** - a period of 26 weeks of total disability after the employee's eligibility date.

Total Disability - an employee will be considered totally disabled if, during the qualifying period and the next 12 months, the employee is continuously unable to perform each and every duty of their occupation or alternate occupation at similar earnings potential, and is not engaged in another occupation. Thereafter, the employee will be considered totally disabled only if the employee is unable to engage in any occupation for which the employee either is or becomes

reasonably qualified by training, education OI experience.

Disabilities Not Covered -

- (a) When not under the care and treatment of a duly qualified physician.
- (b) Disability due to intentionally self-inflicted injuries.
- (c) Disabilities resulting from the commission (or attempted commission) of a felony by the employee.
- (d) Disability as a result of war or an act of war.

Definition of Earnings - Benefits and contributions will be based on normal monthly earnings. Normal monthly earnings under the long-term disability plan will be equal to 4.3 times normal weekly earnings as defined under the Employees' Disability Benefits Plan (short-term).

Contributions - Each employee will pay through payroll deductions thirty-five cents (\$0.35) fool each one hundred dollars of normal monthly earnings. The Company will pay and maintain the balance of the premiums in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 11.03 hereof.

Benefits - Employees who qualify for disability benefits under this plan will receive a monthly disability income equal to 60% of normal monthly earnings, less any benefit entitlement under the following:

- (a) Any income continuation
- (b) Workplace Safety & Insurance Board
- (c) Employment Insurance

- (d) Canada/Quebec Pension Plan(s)
- (e) Pension Benefits
- (f) Any other plan or Government program which provides income benefits and for which the Company contributes or makes payroll deductions.

The Company agrees that any member of the Bargaining Unit as at May 12, 1972 shall not be required to sign a waiver of Long Term Disability Benefits so long as the employee does not suffer a break in service as defined in Paragraph 4.07 of the Collective Agreement.

(N.B.This summary is extracted from the Long-Term Disability Plan, and full details of the plan are provided therein).

## ARTICLE 29

## TERMINATION OR RENEWAL

This Agreement shall be deemed to have come 29.01 into effect on May 12, 2000 and shall remain in force for a period to three (3) years from that date.

Following completion of the term provided for in 29.02 Paragraph 29.01 this Agreement shall be automatically renewed from year to year unless notice by registered mail is given by either party to the other for amendment or termination within the period of three (3) months, but in no event less than one (1) month, before the termination date of this Agreement or any anniversary thereof and so on from time to time.

## ARTICLE 30

## SEVERANCE

(a) In the event of plant closure each employee 30.01 will receive as severance pay one and one half (1 1/2) weeks' pay for each year of service.

(b) Notice of plant closure shall not be less than five (5) months or pay in lieu of notice.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF each of the parties hereto has caused this Agreement to be signed by its duly authorized representatives on the day and year first above mentioned.

SCI BROCKVILLE CORP. PLANT 34

12 6 'actr ande X da Omin. 1 une ML

COMMUNICATIONS, ENERGY AND PAPERWORKERS, CEP AND ITS LOCAL 526.

С Ġ ndersox Mirles 6 Ma 62

# SCHEDULE "A"

## DEPARTMENT NUMBERS

- 455 QA INDEPENDENT PRODUCT AUDIT
- 460 OPTICAL/ACCESS
- 470 ENTERPRISE NETWORKS
- 480 CARRIER NETWORKS
- 490 DATA PRODUCTS
- 700 MAINTENANCE, TOOLING AND TEST EQUIPMENT
- 720 FACTORY SERVICES
- 730 SHIPPING & RECEIVING

## SCHEDULE "B" - SECTION 1

# JOB CLASSIFICATIONS & LABOUR GRADES

Class	Description Labour Grade
217	Cell Worker - Group Assembly2
218	Cell Worker – Final Assembly
221	Small Unit Assembler
229	Automated SMT Line Set-Up & Operate 3
232	P.W.C. Insertion Mach. Opr. & Set-Up 3
333	Wave Solder Set-up & Opr
423	Elec. Rec. Insp. Lead Hand
446	Assembly Lead Hand
460	P.W.B. Fab Insp. Lead Hand & Instructor
525	Electronic Technician 3
601	Independent Q.A. Auditor 2
615	Test Equip. Builder 3
619	Mechanical Calibration
620	Electronic Calibration

710	Tool and Die Maker 5
725	Maintenance Mech
729	Maintenance Machinist
730	Electro-Mechanical TechRobotics
732	Maintenance Office Equip
735	Maintenance Electrician
737	Maintenance Electronic
739	Maintenance PAX Telephones
802	Factory Service
803	Groundskeeper 2
905	Shop Clerk 2
919	Attend. Service Crib

.

65

# SCHEDULE "B" - SECTION 2

# RATES OF PAY

LABOUR GRADE	EFFECTIVE MAY 12, 2000 MAY 12, 2001 MAY 12, 2002			
1	\$16.77	\$17.11	\$17.45	
2	17.29	17.64	17.99	
3	18.64	19.01	19.39	
4	21.11	21.54	21.97	
5	22.70	23.15	23.61	
6	23.25	23.71	24.19	

May 12, 2000

Local 526 CEP Brockville, Ontario

Attention: Mr. B. Major

Subject: Employment Equity

Dear Mr. Major:

The Company and the Union affirm their intent to further the aims of Employment Equity in the workplace.

The parties agree that the employees' rights under the Collective Agreement will not be affected by any Employment Equity initiative.

Yours very truly, 11 T. V. Hamilton

Director Human Resources

#1

May 12. 2000

Local 526 CEP Brockville. Ontario

Attention: Mr. B. Major

Dear Mr. Major:

The Company and the Union have agreed that Members of Local 526 CEP shall not be displaced by transfer or relocations from other plants.

68

Yours very truly, 16

T. V. Hamilton Director Human Resources

#2

May 12, 2000

Local 526 CEP Brockville, Ontario

Attention: Mr. B. Major

Dear Mr. Major:

The Company and the Union have agreed that in the event of a significant shift in the production load, they will work together to allow the required changes to take place with a minimum of disruption to the facility.

In order to facilitate these changes both parties agreed that certain provisions of Article 4 of the collective agreement may be temporarily suspended.

Any changes that are being contemplated with respect to this letter must be mutually agreed upon by both parties. Failing mutual agreement, Article 4 of the Collective Agreement will apply.

Yours very truly, 1 7 T. V. Hamilton

T. V. Hamilton Director Human Resources

#3

May 12, 2000

Local 526 CEP Brockville. Ontario

Attention: Mr. B. Majot

Subject: Trainers

Dear Mr. Major:

An advance rate of pay, equal to \$1.00 per hour will be paid to an employee who;

(a) Provides formal classroom training of one of the company approved soft or hard skills courses i.e. hand soldering, Train the Trainer etc.

OR

(b) Is specifically assigned the role, by management, to administer the training program. This will consist of scheduling. coordinating, facilitating and authorizing the competency of others. The opportunity to train employees will be equitably distributed amongst those employees qualified to administer the related tasks.

The advanced rate of pay will apply to both the preparation time as well as the actual instruction period.

70

Yours very truly. 16 T. V. Hamilton

Director Human Resources

#4

May 12, 2000 Local 526 CEP Brockville, Ontario Attention: Mr. B. Majot Dear Mr. Major:

This letter is to confirm the Company and the Union agreement as to the process for filling Labour Grade 3 positions within the facility.

The process is outlined as follows:

When a Business Unit (Department) requires an addition to a Labour Grade 3 classification, a notice will be posted on the facility posting boards indicating the vacancy in that department (B.U.). The selection of those interested candidates within the classification will be based on seniority.

Any subsequent openings created by the above process may be filled by means of repeating the above step, or by direction within the classification or by a plant wide posting.

Plant wide posting for an increase in complement in a Labour Grade 3 classification, may be posted at the same time as the notice. Employees currently working in the classification being posted will not be eligible to bid on the plant **Wide** positing. The senior successful bidder will be offered the vacancy within the facility.

Yours very truly,

T. V. Hamilton Director Human Resources

#5

## SCI BROCKVILLE CORP. PLANT 34

May 12, 2000

Local 526 CEP Brockville, Ontario Attention: Mr. B. Major

Dear Mr. Major:

The Company believes that for Plant 34 to be a successful facility within SCI Systems and the Electronic Manufacturing Industry that it may be necessary on occasion for the Company to realign the business in order to increase operational efficiency and profitability. In some circumstances this realignment may result in contractors in other facilities assuming responsibility for operations that are performed by Plant 34 personnel. These actions are taken with the intent to strengthen the business and to help ensure the future of the jobs of all employees at SCI Plant 34.

During the life of the Collective Agreement. unless mutually agreed between the Company and the Union, the Company agrees that it will refrain from engaging contractors to come into SCI Plant 34 to perform any Direct or Indirect Labour Production Associate job functions normally performed by Plant 34 employees.

Any temporary outsourcing of production load to any non SCI facility that is within the control of Plant 34 Management will be returned to Plant 34 before any fulltime Production Associate employees are laid off.

Yours very truly, 1\_

T.V. Hamilton Director, Human Resources

#6

May 12, 2000

Local 526 CEP Brockville, Ontario

Attention: Mr. B. Major

Dear Mr. Major:

The Company recognizes the value of maintaining a stable and secure full-time workforce in terms of its positive influence on increased productivity and improved employee morale. To achieve this goal the Company will work with its Customers, Corporate Personnel and with the Union to put practices in place that will minimize the disruption to employees as a result of fluctuations in the workload.

To that end the Company will implement a temporary workforce that will help it to handle those fluctuations in load that are an inevitable part of the business environment. This type of workforce will enable the Company to better address the varying demands of the marketplace while at the same time helping to offset the affect of these load swings on the full-time employee population.

The terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement will apply to temporary employees except for the following Articles and Letters:

- Article 4 Seniority
- Recognized Holidays Article 9
- Article 10 Vacations
- Article 11 Health Care
- Article 12 Jury Duty
- Article 13 Death in the Immediate Family
- Working Hours (Article 21.3 will apply) Group Life Insurance Article 21
- Article 25
- Article 26 Employee Pension Plan
- Article 27 Employee Disability Plans
- Article 30 Severance
- Letter #4 Trainer
- Letter #5 Labour Grade 3 Posting

The Temporary Workforce will be managed according to the following guidelines:

- 1. This temporary workforce will not include any full-time employee hired before May 12, 2000.
- 2. The temporary workforce will not exceed an amount that is greater than 15% of the full-time workforce.
- No temporary employee will be employed while a fulltime employee is on lay-off.
- 4. The temporary workforce shall have no seniority rights under the collective agreement and therefore will be administered as if they shared a common hire date.
- 5. Temporary employees may be placed on layoff without any prior notice other than the minimum requirements as per the Employment Standards Legislation.
- 6. The temporary workforce shall not be entitled to any benefits afforded the full-time workforce other than those as stipulated by legislation and the following benefits <u>if</u> <u>required:</u>
  - -safety footwear
  - -ESD footwear -safety prescription glasses
  - -safety presemption glasses
- 7. The positions filled by the temporary workforce are not subject to the posting provisions of the Collective Agreement unless the position is filled by a temporary employee for a period of 4 months and is not a cleared vacancy. If the position is a cleared vacancy and the position has been filled continuously for one year the position will be posted. If the Company adds a new Business Center or adds a new product to an existing Business Center, the Company and the Union will attempt to mutually agree to reach the appropriate method of filling the positions.
- 8. When overtime is scheduled in advance in a cell, such overtime will be offered to those full time employees who normally perform such work before offering to the temporary employees.
- 9. The probationary period for temporary employees will be the same length as for full time employees. If a temporary employee becomes a fulltime employee they will be required to serve the probationary period for fulltime employees with no change in wage rate.
- 10. The probationary wage rate and the job rate for

temporary employees will be the same as for full-time employees.

- 11. Temporary employees will he offered full-time employment prior to the hiring of employees from the outside.
- 12. Temporary employees may be employed for a term ranging from a minimum of Iday to a maximum of one calendar year. This period can be extended by mutual agreement with the Union.
- 13. Students may be employed regardless of whether or not temporary employees are being utilized.
- 14. Temporary employees will not be hired to perform any job classification higher than labour grade 2.

75

Yours very truly, 11

T.V. Hamilton Director Human Resources

#7